University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice

Faculty of Science

Chromosomal sex determination of Fukomys mechowii

Bachelor thesis

Anja Drobnjak

Supervisor: Mgr. Lenka Gahurová, Ph.D.

České Budějovice, 2024

Drobnjak, A., 2024: Chromosomal sex determination of *Fukomys mechowii*. Bc. Thesis, in English. – 49 p., Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic.

Annotation

This thesis investigates chromosomal sex determination of *Fukomys mechowii*, aiming to elucidate possible differences from the expected mammalian XX/XY chromosomal sex determination system through PCR amplification of Y-associated genes and bioinformatic determination of X-specific sequences.

Declaration

I declare that I am the author of this qualification thesis and that in writing it I have used the sources and literature displayed in the list of used sources only.

České Budějovice, 15.08.2024

Signature

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Mgr. Lenka Gahurová, Ph.D., for the support and guidance, as well as to Mgr. Nikolas Tolar for the assistance with the bioinformatic analysis. Furthermore, I would like to thank RNDr. Petr Nguyen, Ph.D., and the Student Grant Agency (SGA), which financially supported the project.

In addition, I would like to acknowledge the Developmental Epigenetics and Bioinformatics Laboratory and The laboratory of Early Mammalian Developmental Biology.

Computational resources were provided by the e-INFRA CZ project (ID:90254), supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic.

Abstract

Mammalian chromosomal sex determination system is often outlined to be XX/XY, however different systems are detected in several rodent species. Fukomys mechowii is a rodent species in which sex chromosome-autosome translocations occurred, creating large sex chromosomes comprising ancestrally autosomal sequences, and certain females are indicated to have heteromorphic X chromosomes, possibly suggesting a different chromosomal sex determination system. This might be further supported by certain females producing prevalently female offspring. This investigation aimed to determine whether Y-associated genes could be detected in F. mechowii females. Additional aims were detecting X-specific and ancestrally autosomal sequences. In order to screen for Y-associated genes polymerase chain reactions (PCR) were performed and followed by Sanger sequencing of PCR products. Moreover, Illumina sequencing of two males and two females was performed and followed with mapping the reads onto a reference genome. The results indicate that the selected Y-associated genes are not present in females as although PCR would amplify a fragment in females, phylogenetic trees created following Sanger sequencing indicated that fragments of X-homologues, DDX3X and KDM5C, were amplified. While single, bright bands were observed in SRY and UTY female screening, PCR product sizes of approximately 800 and 2300 bp compared to the expected 216 and 1922 bp, respectively, suggested they did not result from amplification of SRY and UTY fragments. Bioinformatic analysis revealed likely X-specific sequences, as well as sequences which might be ancestrally autosomal. Thus, future research might aim to further identify those sequences, the sequence amplified with SRY primers in females, as well as to elucidate possible effects of heteromorphic X chromosomes.

List of abbreviations

AMH	Anti-Müllerian hormone
DAX1	Dosage-sensitive sex reversal, adrenal hypoplasia critical region, on
	chromosome X, gene 1
DDX3Y/DDX3X	DEAD-box helicase 3 Y-linked/X-linked
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Eif2s3y	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, subunit 3
Fgf9	Fibroblast growth factor 9
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
HMG	High-mobility group
HMW	High molecular weight
HSFY2	Heat Shock Transcription Factor Y-Linked 2
KDM5D/KDM5C	Lysine-specific demethylase 5D/5C
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
PAR	Pseudoautosomal region
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
RBMY	RNA-binding motif, Y chromosome
RPS4Y	Ribosomal protein S4 Y-linked
RSPO1	R-Spondin 1
SOX	Sry-box transcription factor
SRY	Sex-determining region Y gene
TSPY	Testis-specific protein Y-encoded
Ubaly	Ubiquitin-activating enzyme, chromosome Y
USP9Y	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 9 Y-linked
UTY/UTX	Ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat on chromosome Y/X
WNT4	Wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 4
ZFY	Zinc finger protein Y-linked

Table of contents

1. I	ntro	duction1
1.1.	•	Sex determination
1.2.	•	Mammalian sex determination2
1.3.		Diversity of mammalian chromosomal sex determination mechanisms
1.4.	•	Fukomys mechowii
1.5.	•	Sex determination of Fukomys mechowii
2. A	Aim	s9
3. N	Mate	erials and methods
3.1.	•	Gene selection and primer design10
3.2.	•	DNA extraction
3	3.2.1	DNA extraction for Y-associated genes screening11
3	3.2.2	2. DNA extraction from live female samples12
3	3.2.3	<i>High molecular weight DNA extraction for Illumina next-generation sequencing</i> 13
3.3.		PCR and gel electrophoresis14
3.4.		DNA purification and Sanger sequencing17
3.5.		Bioinformatic analysis
4. F	Resi	ılts20
4.1.	•	Y-associated gene screening20
4.2		Sanger sequencing
4.3		Bioinformatic analysis
5. I	Disc	sussion
5.1		Y-associated genes screening
5.2	2.	Sanger sequencing results
5.3	.	Bioinformatic analysis
6. (Con	clusion40
7. I	Refe	erences

1. Introduction

1.1.Sex determination

A number of different definitions of sex have been outlined, explaining it as any exchange of genetic material between different organisms (Beukeboom & Perrin, 2014), recombination with homologous chromosomes segregation (Agrawal, 2009) or a process involving meiosis (Gorelick & Carpinone, 2009). These definitions have certain limitations such as the implication of horizontal gene transfer being classified as sex, or a disregard for the suppression of crossing-over in certain organisms. Hence, the context determines the utility of a definition (Gorelick & Heng, 2011).

Despite the costs of meiotic sex, it is prevalent in eukaryotic lineages (Beukeboom & Perrin, 2014). It has been associated with DNA repair and the reset of epigenetic markers. Furthermore, while it can prevent the creation of extreme genetic variation with possibly harmful effects (Gorelick & Heng 2011), it enables the recombination of genetic material in sexually reproducing organisms, allowing species to adapt to environmental changes (Seidl & Thomma, 2014).

In a large number of cases, the existence of distinct mating types is a requirement for sexual reproduction (Uyenoyama, 2005). While in such systems this type of reproduction is only possible between different mating types, mating types have isomorphic gametes (Geng et al., 2014), whereas different sexes are characterized by the difference in gamete size – anisogamy (Perrin, 2012). Moreover, in organisms belonging to land plants and metazoans anisogamy is extended into oogamy, which implies the production of sperm and egg cells (Geng et al., 2014).

The modes of sex determination are highly diverse (Pennell et al., 2018). A distinction between environmental and genetic sex determination can be made. Genetic sex determination can be performed through either sex chromosomes or autosomal genes. Certain systems are based on the combination of sex chromosomes, whereas in others, X chromosome to autosome ratio determines sex. Additionally, while certain mechanisms require only a difference at one locus, in others a combination of different genes might be required (Haag & Doty, 2005).

Environmental sex determination can depend on factors such as temperature, nutritional status (Charlesworth, 2002) or population density (Haag & Doty, 2005). Furthermore, transitions between different mechanisms can occur (Schwanz, 2013) and in certain cases both genetic and environmental factors can contribute to the outcome (Piferrer et al., 2005).

1.2. Mammalian sex determination

In mammalian species, genetic factors direct gonad development (Gilbert, 2000). Those factors are often associated with heteromorphic sex chromosomes (Valenzuela & Lance, 2004), X and Y. XX and XY combinations are associated with females and males, respectively (Turner et al., 2004), although other combinations such as XXX, X and XXY are possible as well (Sharifi et al., 2021).

X and Y chromosomes are presumed to have evolved from autosomal chromosomes which ceased to recombine (Cīrulis et al., 2022) in the proximity of newly acquired genes related to sex determination. This loss of recombination allowed for mutations and rearrangements to lead to the creation of morphologically different X and Y chromosomes (Olito & Abbott, 2023).

Y chromosome is often largely heterochromatic, with a high content of repetitive DNA and few genes as the majority of the original genes was lost (Bachtrog, 2013), contributing to a decrease in its size (Liu et al., 2019). Despite this, X and Y continue to recombine in the pseudoautosomal region (PAR), which is stated to display high levels of variability across different species (Helena Mangs & Morris, 2007). Furthermore, apart from PAR, Y chromosomes comprise ampliconic regions, containing large palindromes, and a region containing the remains of the autosome preceding the divergence of the Y chromosome, X-degenerate region (Skaletsky et al., 2003).

Unlike in Y chromosomes, the loss of the majority of the ancestral genes has not occurred in the X chromosome. Furthermore, X chromosomes have a high content of euchromatin and often do not significantly differ in size across mammalian species (Graves, 2006; Charlesworth, 1991 as cited in Liu et al., 2019). Moreover, in order to compensate for the

two copies of X-linked genes in individuals with two X chromosomes, X inactivation occurs, leading to a random inactivation of different X chromosomes in different cells, which will be inherited in all future cells (Turner et al., 2004).

These chromosomes are associated with a number of genes related to sex determination. One such gene is *SRY*, an important testis-determining gene, coding for a peptide with the high-mobility group (HMG) box (Gilbert, 2000), which is conserved across species, while other regions are variable (Whitfield et al., 1993). It specifically binds to the minor groove leading to the bending of DNA (Wilhelm et al., 2007), thus affecting the gene expression. In human Y chromosomes, *SRY* is located on the short arm (Gilbert, 2000), although it could be found on the X chromosome, if a non-PAR recombination between X and Y chromosomes during meiosis was to occur (Wilhelm et al., 2007).

Furthermore, certain genes associated with sex determination, such as *SOX9*, are located on autosomes. *SOX9* is another gene, coding for a transcription factor indicated to play a role in testis development. Unlike *SRY*, which is only found in mammals, *SOX9* is present across vertebrates (Gilbert, 2000), in species with Z and W sex chromosomes, as well as in species with environmental sex determination systems (Wilhelm et al., 2007), suggesting a more recent evolution of *SRY* (Gilbert, 2000).

Additionally, a single gene can both, promote and suppress testis development. *DAX1* is shown to be necessary for testis development as well as *SRY* (Meeks et al., 2003), however, testis development is suppressed if *DAX1* is overexpressed (Swain et al., 1998).

The first gene outlined to promote the development of ovaries in humans is *WNT4* (Biason-Lauber, & Konrad, 2008). It is an autosomal gene (Gilbert, 2000) found across vertebrates (Hollyday et al., 1995; Ungar et al., 1995 as cited in Bernard & Harley, 2007). It contributes to the development of oocytes (Biason-Lauber, & Konrad, 2008) and it has been associated with *DAX1* upregulation (Jordan et al., 2001 as cited in Biason-Lauber, & Konrad, 2008). Furthermore, it leads to paracrine signaling through WNT proteins, which bind to the cell membrane receptors (Biason-Lauber, 2012) and have been outlined to regulate numerous developmental processes (Eggers & Sinclair, 2012).

Moreover, it is suggested to act with RSPO1, another gene linked to ovarian development (García-Acero et al., 2020), to stabilize beta catenin, which regulates gene

transcription (Eggers & Sinclair, 2012) and inhibits *SOX9* expression (Cederroth et al., 2007; Schuijers & Clevers, 2012 as cited in García-Acero et al., 2020). This pathway stimulates ovaries to develop from an indifferent gonadal rudiment which had the potential to develop into testes as well (Gilbert, 2000). Although both duct system precursors are initially present (Hake & O'Connor, 2008), Müllerian duct, which is the precursor of the uterus, oviducts and cervix, develops. One of the steroid hormones outlined to play a role in this development is estrogen, however it is shown to be an important factor in Wolffian duct development as well (Gilbert, 2000).

Wolffian duct is the precursor of the epididymis and vas deferens (Gilbert, 2000). If the primordial gonad initiates to develop into testes, it secretes testosterone and anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) (Hake & O'Connor, 2008). Testosterone is outlined as an important hormone for the development of the Wolffian duct, whereas the presence of dihydrotestosterone affects the external genitalia development. Furthermore, AMH is a glycoprotein leading to the Müllerian duct deterioration (Gilbert, 2000).

The molecular pathway that is associated with this process is related to *SRY* which upregulates *SOX9*. Additionally, murine *Sox9* has been shown to act with *Fgf9*, creating a positive feedback loop which inhibits *Wnt4* and leads to testis development (Eggers & Sinclair, 2012). Although the presence of *SRY* is often outlined as the only factor determining whether testis development is going to occur (Camerino et al., 2006), the activity of other genes can negate or substitute it (Turner et al., 2004).

Furthermore, epigenetic factors have been indicated to play a role in mammalian sex determination as well (Kuroki & Tachibana, 2018). One such factor is DNA methylation, regulating gene expression through the transfer of methyl groups on cytosine (García-Acero et al., 2020) at CpG sequences, leading to gene silencing (Kuroki & Tachibana, 2018). It has been associated with *SRY* expression regulation due to the period of hypermethylation of its promoter region at the time when it is not expressed, followed with hypomethylation in tissues expressing *SRY*, whereas, in tissues without *SRY* expression, methylation levels were not altered (Nishino et al., 2004).

Finally, since the idea of sex is constructed to often encompass different factors such as reproductive organs, hormone levels and chromosome combinations (Morgan & Klein, 2019), it

can therefore be discussed at a number of different levels, including gonadal, genetic and chromosomal (Turner et al., 2004).

1.3. Diversity of mammalian chromosomal sex determination mechanisms

Although XX/XY is often outlined as the mammalian chromosomal sex determination system (Smith & Sinclair, 2004), different systems can be found in certain mammalian species (Kuroiwa, 2022). Moreover, despite the presumed stability of mammalian chromosomal sex determination (Furman et al., 2020), reflected in the term "evolutionary trap" referring to the difficulty of chromosomal sex determination mechanism change in systems with vastly heteromorphic sex chromosomes (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021), transitions to different systems have been observed (Furman et al., 2020).

Instead of an XX/XY system, stated to have evolved in other mammals following monotreme divergence from them (Rens et al., 2007), monotreme mammals display a system which in males involves five X and five Y chromosomes creating a chain during meiosis in *Ornithorhynchus anatinus* (platypus) (Grützner et al., 2004), while male *Tachyglossus aculeatus* (short-beaked echidna) have a total of nine sex chromosomes, four of which are Y (Rens et al., 2007). Moreover, no *SRY* orthologue has been found in these species (Grützner et al., 2004).

A number of therian mammals, which include marsupials and placentals, have a non-XX/XY chromosomal sex determination system as well (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021). One such system, involving XY females, was first observed in *Myopus schisticolor* (wood lemming). Two different X chromosomes have been found in *M. schisticolor* females (Liu et al., 2001; Akhverdyan & Fredga, 2001; Fredga et al., 2000 as cited in Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021), which display XX/XX*/X*Y chromosome combinations (Fredga et al., 1976; Herbst et al., 1978 as cited in Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021). Moreover, the presence of the Y chromosome in these females has not been associated with a decrease in fertility, rather, an increase of fertility in X*Y females has been reported (Fredga et al., 2000; Bondrup-Nielsen et al., 1993 as cited in Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021). Similar systems, which include XY females with no reduction in fertility, have evolved independently in a number of other species as well (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021).

In addition, in certain mammalian chromosomal sex determination systems Y chromosome has been lost (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021). A recent loss of the Y chromosome and *SRY* has been registered in two of three species in both, *Tokudaia* and *Ellobius* genera (Just et al. 1995; Kuroiwa et al. 2011; Kimura et al. 2014 as cited in Ezaz et al., 2017), however, translocation of certain Y-associated genes on the X chromosome has been suggested to have had occurred in *T. osimensis* (Ryukyu spiny rat) (Arakawa et al., 2002).

Furthermore, loss of the Y chromosome has occurred in *Microtus oregoni* (creeping vole) which has an X0/XX chromosomal sex determination system, with X0 females. The presence of two X-like chromosomes, one of which becomes silenced, has been associated with males. Moreover, Y-associated genes, including functional *SRY*, have been found in males and females. While the expression of *SRY* and *UTY* is found to be limited to male *M. oregoni*, *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D* are found in female transcriptomes as well. The presence these genes typically associated with the Y chromosome suggests either translocation of these genes onto the X chromosome preceding Y loss or the fusion of X and Y (Couger et al., 2021).

Another species with no *SRY* or the Y chromosome is *Lasiopodomys mandarinus* (mandarin vole). Moreover, a clear link between sex determination and chromosome combination has not been found in this species (Romanenko et al. 2020 as cited in Roy, 2021).

Although a possibility of the presence of a non-XX/XY chromosomal sex determining mechanism has been suggested in certain non-rodent species as well (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021), each of these systems has been outlined in rodent species (Fredga et al. 1976; Fredga 1983, 1988, 1994 as cited in Veyrunes et al., 2009). Additionally, certain sex chromosome properties and reproductive outcomes of *Fukomys mechowii* (giant mole-rat) (Caspar et al., 2021) might be indicating this species' belonging to such rodent species.

1.4. Fukomys mechowii

F. mechowii had previously been categorized under the *Cryptomys* genus (Allen 1939; Ellerman et al. 1953 as cited in Kawalika & Burda, 2007), however, due to DNA and allozyme differences, *Fukomys* was recognized as a distinct genus (Ingram et al. 2004 as cited in Kock et al., 2006) in the *Bathyergidae* family, encompassing *Cryptomys, Fukomys* and four additional genera (Allard & Honeycutt, 1992; Walton, Nedbal & Honeycutt, 2000; Huchon & Douzery, 2001; Faulkes et al., 1997, 2004; Ingram, Burda & Honeycutt, 2004 as cited in Visser et al., 2019) of subterranean rodents (Faulkes et al., 2010; Ingram, Burda & Honeycutt, 2004; Honeycutt, 2017 as cited in Visser et al., 2019).

F. mechowii is significantly larger in comparison to other species in the genus (Kawalika and Burda 2007; Van Daele et al. 2013 as cited in Caspar et al., 2021). This species inhabits southern regions of central Africa (Maree & Faulkes, 2016 as cited in Caspar et al., 2021) and has been observed in a range of different types of soil (Scharff et al., 2001 as cited in Sichilima et al., 2008a). Furthermore, *F. mechowii* are eusocial (Burda and Kawalika 1993; Kock et al. 2006; Kverkovà et al. 2018 as cited in Caspar et al., 2021), with the colony size ranging from eight to 40 (Burda & Kawalika, 1993; Scharff et al., 2001 as cited in Sichilima et al., 2008a).

Eusocial mammalian species, characterized with philopatry and reproductive division of labor (Burda et al., 2000), are rarely found (Heth et al., 2002), however, *F. mechowii* colonies are of comprised of often only one reproducing pair (Begall et al., 2021), with a larger mean lifespan (Dammann & Burda, 2006; Dammann et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2013 as cited in Begall et al., 2021), and non-breeding offspring. However, the fertility of the offspring is retained (Bennett et al. 2000).

1.5. Sex determination of Fukomys mechowii

A number of studies present data which might suggest the absence of the expected mammalian XX/XY chromosomal sex determination system in *F. mechowii*.

Macholan et al. (1993) indicate the presence of unexpectedly large X and Y chromosomes, with X and Y chromosomes representing 11.5% and 9.5% of the haploid set length, respectively. No such phenomenon was observed in other species within the genus, in which the percentage X chromosomes constitute can be approximated to 5%. Additionally, Macholan et al. (1993) report the presence of two heteromorphic X chromosomes, one of which was found to be shorter and metacentric, and one larger and submetacentric. Moreover, a pair of heteromorphic homologous autosomes was found in male *F. mechowii*, whereas the female karyotype displayed no such difference of the autosomal pair in question.

Furthermore, as a result of a number of chromosomal rearrangements, the diploid chromosome number in the *Fukomys* genus ranges from 40 to 78, with the lowest number expressed in *F. mechowii* (Macholan et al. 1993; Nevo et al. 1986 as cited in Deuve et al., 2008). Such chromosomal rearrangements involved X and Y chromosomes in *F. mechowii*, which were found carrying homologous autosomal fragments, resulting from X/Y-autosome translocations (Deuve et al., 2006), which have been associated with the emergence of complex systems of sex chromosomes (Fredga, 1970 as cited in Fredga, 1988)

In addition, the ratio of male to female offspring was found to be 0.54 to 1, in laboratory conditions (Scharff et al., 1999). The reasons for this skewed ratio were suggested to be related to the presence of heterogametic *F. mechowii* females (Burda, 2022). However, this has not been confirmed, nor is the nature of X and Y *F. mechowii* chromosomes and their mode of inheritance further elucidated.

Furthermore, in light of the lack of consideration of the plasticity of sex determination mechanisms (Devlin, & Nagahama, 2002) and research directed at non-XX/XY chromosomal sex determination systems (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021), investigation of species such as *F. mechowii* could provide important insights in mammalian sex determination.

2. Aims

- Establishing whether genes often present in mammalian Y chromosomes are present in the genomes of *F. mechowii* females
- Identifying *F. mechowii* X-specific sequences and determining which sequences, now found on *F. mechowii* sex chromosomes, correspond to autosomal regions in related species

3. Materials and methods

3.1.Gene selection and primer design

In order to investigate the presence of Y-associated genes in the genomes of female *F. mechowii*, a selection of genes to be investigated was required. Furthermore, in order to test their presence, primer design for PCR (polymerase chain reaction) was necessary for amplification of gene fragments, required for Y-associated gene detection.

Genes associated with Y chromosomes were searched in *Mus musculus* (house mouse), *Rattus norvegicus* (brown rat), *Homo sapiens* (human) and *Fukomys damarensis* (Damaraland mole-rat), with the use of Ensembl genome browser (Martin et al., 2023). These species were selected on the basis of the availability of gene sequences and how closely related a species is to *F. mechowii*. This search yielded a list of 12 genes (Table 1).

Species	Presence of genes							Reference					
	SRY	ZFY	RPS4Y	TSPY	USP9Y	DDX3Y	UTY	KDM5D	HSFY2	Ubaly	RBMY	Eif2s3y	
M. musculus	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
R. norvegicus	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Martin et
H. sapiens	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	un, 2023
F. damarensis	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	

Table 1: Outline of the presence/absence of Y-associated genes in four selected species

Four genes (*SRY*, *DDX3Y*, *KDM5D*, *UTY*) were selected due to being the most conserved in terms of their presence in these species (Table 1), thus being possibly present in *F. mechowii* as well. Additionally, an autosomal gene, *GAPDH* (Wutz & Jaenisch, 2000), was selected to be the positive control as it is conserved across mammals (Salazar et al., 2021) and can hence be utilized as a control.

Due to the absence of *F. mechowii* genome assembly from public databases (Martin et al., 2023), the primers were designed from *F. damarensis* sequences. Additionally, since there was no *F. damarensis DDX3Y* sequence in the database, *DDY3Y*-like sequence was used

(National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2004). All sequences were retrieved from the GenBank database (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 1988).

Moreover, multiple sequence alignments were generated with the use of Clustal Omega (Madeira et al., 2022), displaying mRNA sequence comparisons of selected Y-associated genes across 4 different species (*M. musculus*, *R. norvegicus*, *H. sapiens* and *F. damarensis*). *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D F. damarensis* sequences were additionally compared to the sequences of the corresponding X homologues, *DDX3X* and *KDM5C* respectively. However, alignments with *SRY* and *UTY* X homologues were not created, as *F. damarensis UTX* sequence was not available (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 1988) and *SRY* retains only HMG box related sequences with its X homologue, *SOX3* (Araujo et al., 2015).

The alignments were used to identify the sequence regions which are most conserved across different species and highly dissimilar in X and Y homologues in the case of *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D*. This would increase the probability of a sequence being amplified in *F. mechowii* and decrease the probability of amplifying X homologues of *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D*.

The selection of primer sequences was based on these alignments, while considering self-complementarity values as well. In order to generate these primer sequences Primer3 (Kõressaar et al., 2018; Koressaar & Remm, 2007; Untergasser et al., 2012) was used with the selected *F. damarensis* sequence regions.

3.2.DNA extraction

3.2.1. DNA extraction for Y-associated genes screening

Moreover, in order to determine whether Y-associated genes are present in female *F. mechowii* genomes, DNA which would later be used in PCR was extracted from tissue samples of previously deceased *F. mechowii*. The tissue samples were collected from 20 *F. mechowii* individuals, obtained from the animal facility of the Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia. Following cleaning of the working surface and scissors with 70% ethanol solution, the samples from *F. mechowii* fingers, of approximately 3 mm in length, were

collected into labeled 2 mL Eppendorf tubes and kept on ice. The addition of 700 µL of STE buffer (1 M NaCl, 200 mM Tris-HCl, 100 mM EDTA) and 15 µL of proteinase K (10 mg/ml, Sigma Aldrich – Merck) were followed with an incubation period on the heating block at 55 °C and 900 rpm for approximately three hours. Every hour, mixing by pipetting up and down was performed. The incubation was ended with the inactivation of proteinase K through an increase in temperature to 70 °C for the duration of five minutes. The Eppendorf tubes were left on ice for additional five minutes, which was followed with centrifugation at 4 °C and maximum speed for 10 minutes. First a 1000 µL pipette and later a 10 µL pipettes were used in order to collect and transfer only the supernatant, without the remaining pieces of tissue, into a new 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube with 700 µL of isopropanol, followed by gentle mixing in hand, which causes the DNA to precipitate. This was followed by brief vortexing and centrifugation (maximum speed, 4 °C for five minutes). The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with 400 µL of 70% ethanol. The centrifugation was repeated (maximum speed, 4 °C for five minutes). The supernatant was discarded and the Eppendorf tubes were left open for approximately two minutes in order for the DNA to dry. Depending on the pellet size 30 -300 µL of nuclease-free water were added and left on the heating block at 65 °C and 900 rpm for five minutes in order to increase the DNA dissolution. 300 µL of nuclease-free water, a volume higher compared to the value suggested in the protocol, were added in cases in which there was no DNA pellet following the vortexing and centrifugation with isopropanol, however the DNA could be distinguished from isopropanol as a lower liquid phase.

3.2.2. DNA extraction from live female samples

In order to investigate whether a difference in the presence of the selected Y-associated genes exists between females which produce predominantly female offspring and those which produce male and female offspring equally, DNA was extracted from hair samples collected from five live females. However, due to the unavailability of females which produce prevalently female offspring, four of the samples were collected from the offspring of such females, whereas the fifth sample was obtained from a control female not associated with a skewed ratio of male and female progeny.

DNA was extracted with the use of NucleoSpin Tissue XS, Micro Kit for DNA from cells and tissue (Macherey-Nagel) following manufacturer's instructions. $80 \,\mu\text{L}$ of T1 buffer and $8 \,\mu\text{L}$ of proteinase K were added to approximately 10 hairs with hair follicles collected from each female into labeled 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes. Following vortexing, the hair samples, completely submerged in the solution, were left to be mixed and incubated on a heating block at 56 °C overnight. The incubation was ended with the addition of $80 \,\mu\text{L}$ of buffer B3, vortexing and returning the tubes on a heating block at 70 °C for five minutes. Following the addition of $80 \,\mu\text{L}$ of ethanol and vortexing, the samples were loaded onto the columns in collection tubes. They were centrifuged for one minute and the flow-through was removed. The columns were then washed two times with 50 μ L of buffer B5, each application of the buffer followed with a one minute centrifugation step. The columns were then placed in new 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes and elution was performed with 20 μ L of nuclease-free water with one minute centrifugation allowing the DNA solution to be collected.

3.2.3. High molecular weight DNA extraction for Illumina next-generation sequencing

Illumina sequencing was required for detecting X-specific sequences, as well as distinguishing the ones which were ancestrally autosomal. In order to obtain high molecular weight (HMW) DNA to be sent for Illumina sequencing approximately 4 mm x 4 mm liver samples were collected from six previously deceased *F. mechowii* and cut to smaller pieces, which were transferred into labeled 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. Furthermore, DNA extraction was performed with the MagAttract HMW DNA Kit (QIAGEN) according to manufacturer's instructions.

The addition of 220 μ L of ATL buffer and 20 μ L of proteinase K to the samples was followed with vortexing and incubation at 56 °C and 900 rpm overnight (approximately 14 hours). Following 3 minute centrifugation at maximum speed and room temperature, 200 μ L of the lysates were transferred into new 2 mL Eppendorf tubes. Additionally, 4 μ L of RNase A was added, and followed by vortexing and incubation at room temperature for the duration of two minutes. Addition of 150 μ L of Buffer AL followed and mixing through pipetting up and down was performed. Moreover, 280 µL of Buffer MB and 40 µL of pre-vortexed MagAttract Suspension G were added. The tubes were then incubated at room temperature and 1400 rpm. Following three minutes of incubation, the tubes were transferred onto the magnetic base for one minute. This led the magnetic beads to concentrate on one side of the tubes, allowing for the removal of supernatant. The supernatant removal was performed slowly and carefully in order to avoid the disturbance of the magnetic beads. The tubes were removed from the magnetic base, and the addition of 700 µL of the Buffer MW1, incubation at room temperature and 1400 rpm for two minutes and careful supernatant removal with the tubes on the magnetic base were performed two times. Furthermore, the identical procedure was performed two times with $700 \,\mu\text{L}$ of the Buffer PE. When the entire volume of the supernatant had been removed for the last time, the beads were washed two more times with 700 µL of nuclease-free water. The nuclease-free water was added when the tubes were on the magnetic base, by pipetting onto the side of the tube with no beads. Finally, the elution was performed with 100 μ L of nuclease-free water. Following incubation at room temperature and 1400 rpm for three minutes, the tubes were placed onto the magnetic base allowing for the HMW DNA containing supernatant to be collected without the beads and transferred into new 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes.

The DNA concentration and purity were measured with the use of NanoDrop Microvolume UV-Vis Spectrophotometer. Furthermore, the samples were stored at -21 °C and the procedure was repeated for samples which did not reach the sufficient concentration. Following the repetition, two male and two female samples were sent to be sequenced by Illumina next-generation sequencing (NGS) NextSeq 550 system to company Novogene. Paired-end sequencing was performed generating 150 bp reads.

3.3. PCR and gel electrophoresis

Following the acquisition of DNA solutions through DNA extraction, 1:20 dilutions were prepared with nuclease-free water. Those solutions were used with polymerase mixes and PCR primers (Table 2) in order to create PCR mixes. The amounts of each component are outlined in Table 3, for the Y-associated genes screening PCR, and Table 4, for PCR with high-fidelity polymerase, used to obtain the amplified fragments for Sanger sequencing.

Gene	Forward primer (5'->3')	Reverse primer (5'->3')	
GAPDH	TGTTCCAGTACGACTCCACC	CTGACGATCTTGAGGGAGT	
SRY	GCATTCATGGTGTGGTCTCG	CGTCTTAGTCTTCCGGCGA	
DDX3Y	CTTCCTCCAAGTGAACGCTT	GCACTGGAGTAGGACGAGTAT	
KDM5D	GGGTCAAGATGGTGGTCGTA	CCAGACTTCTCGGCAATGGG	
UTY	GCTTTTGTGCGTGTTGTGTC	CAGAAGTCGTTCAGCACACC	

 Table 2: PCR primers for the amplification of selected Y-associated genes

Table 3: PCR mixture used for gene screening

Substance	Volume / µL	Manufacturer
2X AMPIGENE Taq Mix	25	Enzo Life Sciences
Forward primer (10 µM)	2	Eurofins Genomics
Reverse primer (10 µM)	2	Eurofins Genomics
Nuclease-free water	21	-

 $4 \,\mu\text{L}$ of the mixture prepared according to the Table 3 would be added to $1 \,\mu\text{L}$ of the 1:20 DNA solution (approximately 50 ng DNA) or $1 \,\mu\text{L}$ of nuclease-free water in the case of the negative control, which was utilized for each PCR run in order to detect possible DNA contamination of the PCR mixture.

Table 4: PCR	mixture used t	for amplificat	tion of fragments	for Sanger	sequencing
					~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Substance	Volume / µL	Manufacturer	
2X Phusion High-Fidelity PCR	10	Thermo Scientific	
Master Mix with HF Buffer	10		
Forward primer (10 µM)	1	Eurofins Genomics	
Reverse primer (10 µM)	1	Eurofins Genomics	
1:20 DNA solution/nuclease-free	1	_	
water in the negative control	*		
Nuclease-free water	7	-	

PCR was performed in a Biometra thermal cycler (Analytik Jena), with the parameters outlined in Table 5. The number of cycles, ranging from 30 to 35, and annealing temperature would be adjusted depending on the number and intensity of bands, as well as considering the results from male samples and the positive control.

PCR stage	Temperature / °C	Time
Initialization	95	1 min
Denaturation	95	15 s
Annealing GAPDH	56-58	15 s
Annealing SRY	57-61	15 s
Annealing <i>DDX3Y</i>	58-61	15 s
Annealing KDM5D	63-64	15 s
Annealing UTY	64-65	15 s
Extension	72	2 min
Final extension	72	8 min

Table 5: PCR program used for gene screening

Following the completion of the PCR cycles, 1  $\mu$ L of the Gel Loading Dye, Purple (6X) (New England Biolabs) would be added to 5  $\mu$ L of the PCR mixtures. They would then be loaded into the wells of a 1% agarose gel immersed in a 1X TAE buffer. For the preparation of those gels 0.7 g of agarose would be dissolved in 70 mL of TAE buffer, followed with heating and addition of ethidium bromide. Approximately 30 minutes were required for the gels to solidify. Following the addition of samples and 3  $\mu$ L of the Quick-Load 100 bp DNA Ladder (New England Biolabs), gel electrophoresis was performed in order to separate DNA fragments of different sizes. A voltage of 100 V would be applied for approximately 30 minutes. Visualization of amplified DNA fragments was achieved through the use of UV light in Azure 280 (Azure Biosystems).

Positions of the bands were compared to the ladder and the sizes of fragments were recorded and compared to the expected values. In the case of detecting a single band in a female sample, PCR would be repeated with high-fidelity polymerase and parameters outlined in Table 6 in order to generate DNA fragments which would be sent for Sanger sequencing.

PCR stage	Temperature / °C	Time
Initialization	98	30 s
Denaturation	98	30 s
Annealing SRY	58-64	15 s
Annealing DDX3Y	60-62	15 s
Annealing KDM5D	60-64	15 s
Annealing UTY	63-66	15 s
Extension	72	40 s
Final extension	72	10 min

Table 6: PCR program used for amplification of fragments for Sanger sequencing

#### 3.4.DNA purification and Sanger sequencing

In order to identify the amplified fragments, Sanger sequencing was required, prior to which purification of DNA was necessary. Performing high-fidelity PCR was followed with utilization of the Monarch PCR & DNA Cleanup Kit (New England Biolabs) for DNA purification. Binding Buffer was added to DNA in the 5:1 ratio. The samples were mixed, pipetting up and down, and transferred on a column in a collection tube. Following one minute centrifugation and removal of the flow-through, 200  $\mu$ L of the Wash Buffer were added to each sample and centrifugation was repeated. Washing step was performed one more time and columns were transferred into 1.5  $\mu$ L Eppendorf tubes. DNA was eluted with 15  $\mu$ L of nuclease-free water which was added and left on the column for one minute. This was followed with centrifugation and purified DNA was obtained.

Thus, in order to determine whether bands detected in female samples are indicative of the presence of Y-associated genes in female *F. mechowii*, purified PCR products from a male and multiple female samples were sent to SEQme s.r.o. for Sanger sequencing to be performed with PCR primers as sequencing primers.

Additionally, approximately 15 nucleotides were removed from the beginning and end of the obtained sequences based on the quality of chromatogram signals. In the cases in which the sequencing of male and female PCR products was performed successfully, such sequences were used to create multiple sequence alignments of male and female *F. mechowii* amplified sequences with corresponding Y-associated and X homologue *F. damarensis* sequences with the use of Clustal Omega (Madeira et al., 2022). Moreover, phylogenetic trees were obtained in order to visualize the relationship between those sequences.

However, as the presence of multiple PCR products interfered with Sanger sequencing of certain female PCR products, only the alignments of the male products with corresponding *F. damarensis* sequences were created in order to confirm that the expected sequence was being amplified with PCR.

# 3.5. Bioinformatic analysis

In order to analyze the data obtained by the Illumina NGS, and to detect X-specific and ancestrally autosomal sequences, MetaCentrum was used, as it provides computing resources (Chudoba et al., 2017) required for such analysis.

Firstly, sequence quality was examined with the use of FastQC (v0.11.5). Trimmomatic (v0.39) with paired-end mode was utilized with the aim of further increasing the sequence quality by removing adapters and low-quality bases. However, a number of quality criteria such as k-mer or GC content indicated no improvement in quality. Moreover, according to certain criteria such as per base sequence quality scores, the quality decreased. Thus, Trim Galore (v5.1.0) was used to improve the sequence quality.

Those sequences were then mapped onto a female *F. mechowii* genome assembly at the contig/scaffold level, produced by Tolar (2023) in our laboratory. Bowtie 2 (v2.3.5.1) was used for mapping. Additionally, coverage of each contig position by the obtained reads was determined with the use of Bedtools genomecov function (v2.26.0). In order to identify X-specific sequences, acquired mean coverage values of contigs were first normalized by division with the total number of reads in order to account for differences in the initial amount of DNA

leading to the production of different number of reads. Furthermore, natural logarithm of the normalized mean coverage by female samples divided by normalized mean coverage by male samples was calculated. Thus, the contigs with the value of zero would indicate that there is no difference between the presence of that sequence between males and females, whereas a value of approximately 0.7 would indicate that a sequence is present twice as much in a female compared to a male genome.

Similarly to Mongue et al. (2017) the obtained values were plotted against the contig length. Additionally, the contigs with the values above zero were mapped onto genomes of *M. musculus* (GRCm39 (GCA_000001635.9)) and *Heterocephalus glaber* (naked mole-rat) (Naked_mole-rat_maternal (GCA_944319715.1)) with D-Genies (Cabanettes & Klopp, 2018) in order to detect possibly ancestrally autosomal regions. This was performed by a member of our lab, who created custom scripts in Python 3.8 required for bioinformatic analysis as well.

# 4. Results

#### 4.1.Y-associated gene screening

In order to investigate whether *F. mechowii* displays a sex determination system different from the expected XX/XY, screening for the presence of Y-associated genes in *F. mechowii* female samples was performed through PCR amplification of fragments of selected genes using primers designed from *F. damarensis* sequences. Thus, if the targeted sequence would be amplified in *F. mechowii* a band corresponding to the sizes predicted on the basis of the used *F. damarensis* sequence (Table 7) would be visualized following gel electrophoresis. Male samples were used as a control, with an autosomal gene, *GAPDH* screening which indicated whether DNA of sufficient quality was extracted.

Gene	Size / bp
GAPDH	391
SRY	216
DDX3Y	544
KDM5D	286
UTY	1922

 Table 7: Expected sizes of amplified fragments

The results of the amplification of the *GAPDH* fragment in 20 samples are outlined in Table 8, whereas screening for Y-associated genes yielded results outlined in Table 9.

# Table 8: GAPDH PCR results

Sample	Sex	Band size / bp
3563	Female	400
4220	Female	400
8179	Female	400
9757	Male	400
642	Female	400
712	Female	400
724	Female	-
733	Female	400
2771	Male	400
3956	Male	400
7185	Female	400
7316	Male	400
2348	Female	400
2511	Male	400
5496	Female	400
6211	Female	-
7246	Female	400
7569	Female	400
8742	Female	400
8996	Female	-

		Approximate	Approximate	Approximate	Approximate
Sample	Sex	SRY	DDX3Y	KDM5D	UTY band
		band size / bp	band size /bp	band size / bp	size / bp
3563	Female	900	800	300*, 800	2300
4220	Female	-	-	-	-
8179	Female	900	600*, 800	300*, 800	2300
9757	Male	200, 900	550	300, 800	1900, 2300
642	Female	-	800	-	-
712	Female	-	800	-	-
724	Female	-	-	-	-
733	Female	-	-	-	-
2771	Male	200	550	300	-
3956	Male	200	550	300	1900, 2300
7185	Female	-	800	-	2300
7316	Male	200	550, 800	300	1900, 2300
2348	Female	-	-	-	-
2511	Male	200	550	300	1900, 2300
5496	Female	-	800	-	-
6211	Female	-	-	-	-
7246	Female	800	600*, 800	300*, 800	2300
7569	Female	800	800	800	2300
8742	Female	800	600*, 800	300*, 800	2300
8996	Female	-	-	-	-

 Table 9: Sizes of gene fragments produced with PCR, with ones detected only with the use

 of high-fidelity polymerase marked with an asterisk

No bands were observed in *GAPDH* screening of samples 724, 6211 and 8996, even with the use of undiluted samples, indicating that DNA was not present in sufficient amount for further investigation (Table 8). Hence, screening for other genes yielded no bands for those samples either (Table 9).

However, except in the case of those three samples, fragments of the approximate size of 400 bp were detected in *GAPDH* screening, corresponding to the expected size (Table 7). This indicated successful DNA extraction.

Additionally, in the case of male samples, estimated sizes of the obtained fragments corresponded to the expected values (Table 7). However, in certain cases (Table 9), an additional band would be observed, the size of which would not be in accordance with the predicted sizes (Table 7). However, a band of that size was present in certain female samples as well (Table 9). Only in the case of *KDM5D* screening, certain female samples yielded fragments of the size expected and obtained for the male samples (Table 9).

The results of the PCR screening are depicted in Figures 2 through 6, with the fragment sizes inferred based on the ladder shown in Figure 1. A single 800/900 bp band was observed in *SRY* screening of five female samples (Figure 2), with two faint 900 bp bands and three 800 bp bright bands, indicating the presence of a sequence in certain female DNA samples similar to the targeted *SRY* sequence to a sufficient extent which would allow primers to bind specifically. However, a faint 900 bp band was obtained in one male sample as well with the 200 bp expected product. All other male samples produced only the expected *SRY* band.

DDX3Y (Figure 3), KDM5D (Figure 4) and UTY (Figure 6) screening yielded similar results, with certain female samples producing bands which would not correspond to the expected product size. In addition, in certain cases in DDX3Y and KDM5D screening, those bands would be observed for male samples as well, while in the case of UTY, a 2300 bp band would be present in every male sample in addition to the expected 1922 bp band.

Moreover, with the use of high-fidelity mix, required for amplifying fragments to be sequenced, bands of the size expected for male samples in the case of *KDM5D* were detected as well as the previously obtained 800 bp bands, whereas in the case of *DDX3Y* smaller products of approximately 600 bp were observed as well, however those were larger compared to the products obtained for male samples as well (Figure 5).

Additionally, while the absence of PCR products in the negative controls indicated that the observed results do not stem from a contamination of the PCR mix, differences in the size of the products obtained in male and female samples indicated that the bands observed in female samples were not caused by contamination with male DNA.

_	Base Pairs – 1,517	Mass (ng) 45
_	- 1,200	35
_	- 1,000	95
_	- 900	27
-	- 800	24
_	- 700	21
	- 600	18
_	- 500/517	97
-	- 400	38
-	- 300	29
	- 200	25
-	- 100	48

Figure 1: Quick-Load 100 bp DNA Ladder (New England Biolabs, n.d.)



Figure 2: SRY screening results



Figure 3: DDX3Y screening results



Figure 4: *KDM5D* screening results



Figure 5: Results of PCR for *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D* performed with high-fidelity polymerase with the annealing temperature of 60 °C and 33 cycles



Figure 6: UTY screening results

Thus, amplification of a fragment in female samples indicated the presence of sequences similar to those of Y-associated genes. While the difference in sizes compared to the expected values and male PCR products, except in the case of *KDM5D*, suggested the observed bands did not result from Y-associated gene amplification, Sanger sequencing was required to identify the amplified fragments.

In addition, Y-associated gene screening of samples from live females, screened because they are progeny of females producing more female compared to male offspring, which suggested a possible difference in their sex chromosomes compared to the previously screened females, yielded results outlined in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Results of the screening of samples obtained from living females with PCR performed with 33 cycles and annealing temperatures of 58 °C, 58 °C, 60 °C, 63 °C, 64 °C for *GAPDH*, *SRY*, *DDX3Y*, *KDM5D* and *UTY* respectively

*GAPDH* reaction was performed with high-fidelity polymerase, unlike other reactions in the screening of live females, due to the unavailability of *Taq* polymerase, leading to multiple bands in 31A and 32A (Figure 7). This effect had been previously observed and it is displayed in Figure 5 as well. A single band could be obtained with an increased annealing temperature. However, in this case the presence of the product of the expected size (Table 7) indicated successful DNA extraction.

Results of the screening for other genes indicated no difference in the presence of the selected Y-associated genes in the females which are offspring of the females which produce prevalently female progeny and those that are not. PCR created previously detected products in *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D* screening, while no products were observed in females in the case of *SRY* and *UTY*.

#### 4.2. Sanger sequencing

PCR was repeated with high-fidelity polymerase for the purposes of Sanger sequencing of the female and male PCR products and elucidating the cause of the bands observed in female samples. A requirement for a PCR product to be sent for sequencing was the detection of a singular band following gel electrophoresis as depicted in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Examples of products which were purified and sent for Sanger sequencing obtained through PCR with 33, 34, 32, 32 cycles and 60 °C, 61 °C, 64 °C, 66 °C as annealing temperatures for *SRY*, *DDX3Y*, *KDM5D* and *UTY* respectively

In the case of *KDM5D*, Sanger sequencing was performed despite the presence of faint 800 bp bands (Figure 8) as obtaining only one band was difficult with the use of high-fidelity polymerase, since the use of this polymerase often resulted in the increased number of observed bands. This was the case with *SRY* as well. Due to the presence of multiple bands each time PCR would be performed with high-fidelity polymerase for *SRY*, finally *Taq* polymerase was used to generate the *SRY* product visualized in Figure 8.

The results of the concentration and purity measurement, performed in order to determine whether Sanger sequencing would be possible, are displayed in Table 10 for the samples which were sent to be sequenced due to the highest obtained concentration and purity.

Sample	Gene	ng/µL	A260/A280	A260/A230
2511	SRY	33.7	1.94	2.09
8742		11.1	1.83	1.28
2511		20.8	1.76	1.97
3563		10.9	2.06	0.69
7246		12.0	1.96	1.05
8179	DDX3Y	8.6	1.87	0.78
8742		11.5	1.84	1.10
3563		9.3	1.82	1.33
8742	-	4.0	2.24	0.97
2511		14.1	1.87	1.53
3563	KDM5D	11.4	2.01	1.39
7246		18.2	1.94	1.69
8742		19.8	1.99	1.76
2511		35.2	1.89	1.74
3563	UTY	15.4	1.85	1.05
3563		3.8	1.80	0.88

Table 10: Purity and concentration of DNA sent for Sanger sequencing

However, Sanger sequencing was not performed successfully for female *SRY* and *UTY* products, as the chromatograms indicated the presence of multiple PCR products. Thus, it was only possible to infer that the male PCR products are amplified *SRY* and *UTY* regions on the basis of alignments with *F. damarensis SRY* (Figure 9) and *UTY* (Figure 10) targeted sequences.

CLUSTAL 0(1.2.4) multiple sequence alignment

Sry_2511 XM_010621263.1_damara_sry	GCATTCATGGTGTGGTCTCGTGACCAGAGGCGCAAAGTGGC	CTT TCTGGAGCATCCCAACTTG *	3 60
Sry_2511 XM_010621263.1_damara_sry	GCAAACTCAGAGATCAGCAAGTGGCTGGGGTACCAGTGGAA CAAAACTCAGAGATCAGCAAGTGGCTGGGGTACCAGTGGAA	AATGCTTACTGAAGCCGAA AATGCTTACTGAAGCCGAA ******	63 120
Sry_2511 XM_010621263.1_damara_sry	AAATGGCCATTCTTTCAGGAGGCCCAGAGACTGCGGGCTAT AAATGGCCATTCTTTCAGGAGGCCCAGAGACTGCAGGCTAT	GCACAGAAGGAAATATCCT GCACAGAAGGAAATATCCT ******	123 180
Sry_2511 XM_010621263.1_damara_sry	GACTATAAGTATCAACCTCGCCGRAAGACTAAGACGG GACTATAAGTATCAACCTCGCCGGAAGACTAAGACGC	160 217	





Figure 10: *UTY* alignment

For the other two genes sequencing was successful. Alignments with *F. damarensis* Y-associated genes and X homologues are displayed in Figures 11 and 12, while phylogenetic trees, indicating relationships between sequenced PCR products and X and Y *F. damarensis* genes, are outlined in Figures 13 and 14.

Damara mole rat Ddy3y		Damara mole rat Ddx3x	TTACTTGAAACATTAACATGATTTTACTTAAAGCAACAATAAATA
Ddway 3E63		Ddy3y 3563	TTACTTGADACATTAACATGATTTTACTTAAAGCAACAATAAATAGACTAGGGCTGGGGA 433
Ddx3y_3365		Ddx3y_3365	
Dux3y_7246	GGTATGTAGCAGATAATCTTAGCAATCTTAGATTTTA 38	Ddx3y_7246	
D0x3y_2511	AACAATGATCTGATTICA 18	Duxsy_2511	-11011
Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3y	TAATGATCTGATTTCA 16 *** * ****** *	Damara_mole_rat_boxsy	333
Damara mole rat Ddx3x	GGGAACTCTTTTCTGGAGGCAACACGGGGATTAACTTTGAGAAATATGATGACATTCCAG 120	Damara mole rat Ddx3x	CTTAGCTCAGTGGTTCTGCCACCTGCCTTGCAAATGCAAGGACCTGAGTTCAATCCCTGG 518
Ddx3v 3563	GGGAACTETTTTCTGGAGGEAACAEGGGGGATTAAETTTGAGAAATATGATGAEATTECAG 95	Ddx3v 3563	CTTAGCTCAGTGGTTCTGCCACCTGCCTTGCAAATGCAAGGACCTGAGTTCAATCCCTGG 493
Ddx3y 7246	GGGAACTCTTTTCTGGAGGCAACACGGGGGATTAACTTTGAGAAATATGATGACATTCCAG 98	Ddx3y 7246	CTTAGCTCAGTGGTTCTGCCACCTGCCTTGCAAATGCAAGGACCTGAGTTCAATCCCTGG 496
Ddy3y 2511	GAGAACTTTTTTCTGGAGGAAATACGGGGATTAACTTTGAGAAATACGACGATATACCAG 78	Ddx3y 2511	354
Damara mole rat Ddy2v		Damara mole rat Ddy3v	333
Dallar a_litore_rac_buxsy	8 88888 88888888888 88 888888888888888	build d_indic_ruc_buxby	555
Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	TTGAGGCAACAGGCAACAACTGTCCTCCACATATTGAAAGTGTAAGTAA	Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	TACCAAAAACAAAAACAATAAACCAAATTACAAATTGGCTGTTAGTTGGTTATTTCTATT 578
Ddx3y_3563	TTGAGGCAACAGGCAACAACTGTCCTCCACATATTGAAAGTGTAAGTAA	Ddx3y_3563	TACCAAAAAACAAAAACAACCAAATTACAAATTGGCTGTTAGTTGGTTATTTCTATT 549
Ddx3y 7246	TTGAGGCAACAGGCAACAACTGTCCTCCACATATTGAAAGTGTAAGTAA	Ddx3y 7246	TACCAAAAAACAAAAACAACCAAATTACAAATTGGCTGTTAGTTGGTTATTTCTATT 552
Ddx3y 2511	TAGAGGCAACTGGCAATAACTGCCCTCCACATATTGAAAATGTAAGATTTTTTTGGTTTG 138	Ddx3y 2511	354
Damara mole rat Ddx3v	TAGAGGCAACTGGCAATAACTGCCCTCCACATATTGAAAAATGTAAGATTTTTTTGGTTTG 136	Damara mole rat Ddx3v	333
50000 0 <u>0</u> 0020 <u>0</u> , 00 <u>0</u> 0000)	8 20000000 000000 000000000000000000000		
Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	AGACACAGATGTGGAAGTGTAATGTTTTTCAGGGCACATCACAATTAGATGGGTTTCCTA 240	Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	GTTAGTATAAAACAGAAGGGCTTCAGGTAGCTTTTCTAGCTATTTAACCCCATTGAATTT 638
Ddx3y 3563	AGACACAGATGTGGAAGTGTAATGTTTTTCAGGGCACATCACAATTAGATGGGTTTCCTA 215	Ddx3y 3563	GTTAGTATAAAACAGAAGGGCTTCAGGTAGCTTTTCTAGCTATTTAACCCCATTGAATTT 609
Ddx3y 7246	AGACACAGATGTGGAAGTGTAATGTTTTTCAGGGCACATCACAATTAGATGGGTTTCCTA 218	Ddx3y 7246	GTTAGTATAAAAACAGAAGGGCTTCAGGTAGCTTTTCTAGCTATTTAACCCCATTGAATTT 612
Ddx3v 2511	ACTITIAAAAAACGTIGIIIGIIIGCCTATICGIIIGAAAGAAAAAAAAAA	Ddx3y 2511	GATTGATCTGTGTTATATTT 374
Damara mole rat Ddx3v	ACTITITAAAAAACGTIGTITGTITGCCTATTCGTTTTAAAGAAAAAAAATGTCAGACATG 196	Damara mole rat Ddx3v	
bombro_more_roc_bomby	8 8 8 8 8 88 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8		
Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	AAGGACACGTAAGTCAGACATCTCAATCATTTGTGGAAAGAGTTGAGTTCAGT 293	Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3x	CTTGACAGTTCAGTGATGTTGAGATGGGAGAAATTATTATGGGAAACATTGAGCT 693
Ddx3y_3563	AAGGACACGTAAGTCAGACATCTCAATCATTTGTGGAAAGAGTTGAGTTCAGT 268	Ddx3y_3563	CTTGACAGTTCAGTGATGTTGAGATGGGAGAAATTATTATGGGAAACATTGAGCT 664
Ddx3y_7246	AAGGACACGTAAGTCAGACATCTCAATCATTTGTGGAAAGAGTTGAGTTCAGT 271	Ddx3y_7246	CTTGACAGTTCAGTGATGTTGAGATGGGAGAAATTATTATGGGAAACATTGAGCTTACTC 672
Ddx3y_2511	AAAAACCAAATACTTTTTTGAAATGTAGATAGAGCCAGGAATTCTGTTCCTT 250	Ddx3y_2511	TTTGACAGTTTAGCGATCTTGAGATGGGAGAGAGATTATTATGGGAAACATTGAACTGACTC 434
Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3y	AAAAACCAAATACTTTTTGAAATGTAGATAGAGCCAGGAATTCTGTTCCTT 248 ** * ** ** ** ** ********************	Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3y	TGACAGTTTAGCGATCTTGAGATGGGAGAGAGATTATTATGGGAAACATTGAACTGACTC 391
Damara mole rat Ddx3x	GTIATTITCATAAATAATTCACTGCCTGAGATAGGAAATGGGTCA 338	Damara mole rat Ddx3x	693
Ddx3y 3563	GTTATTTTCATAAATAATTCACTGCCTGAGATAGGAAATGGGTCA 313	Ddx3v 3563	664
Ddx3v 7246	GTTATTTTCATAAA	Ddx3y 7246	672
Ddx3y 2511	AGAAAAATACTGTAATACTCCAATTGTAGGTACTTATTTGGCTGCTTCATTATATTTATGA 310	Ddx3v 2511	ATTATACTCGT 445
Damara mole rat Ddy2v	AGAAAATACTGTAATACTCCAATTGTAGGTACTTATTTGGCTGCTTCATTATTTAT	Damara mole rat Ddx3v	ATTATACTOST 492
build of more recounty			
Damara mole rat Ddx3x	AACATAAGAGAAGCCCAGAGTCTCTTGATTGTTCGGTATGGTTAAGCCTGGGAGTTTATT 398		
Ddx3v 3563	AACATAAGAGAAGCCCAGAGTCTCTTGATTGTTCGGTATGGTTAAGCCTGGGAGTTTATT 373		
Ddx3v 7246	AACATAAGAGAAGCCCAGAGTCTCTTGATTGTTYGGTATGGTTAAGCCTGGGAGTTTATT 376		
Ddx3y 2511	AACAAAC - TGTGGCAGATAGACTGCTTCTGTTTTTGTTTC		
Damara mole rat Ddx3v	AACAAAC -TGTGGCAGATAGATTTTT		
	**** * * * * * * *		

# Figure 11: DDX3Y alignment

## CLUSTAL 0(1.2.4) multiple sequence alignment

Kdm5d_7246 Kdm5d_8742 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5c_XM_010629746.3 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5d_XM_010621634.2 Kdm5d_2511	-GCAGGGCACCRGCCTGGTGCACCATGRCTGTCTGCTCTTCCTTGGGCTCC GGCACCRGYCTGGTGCACCATGRCTGTCTGCTCTTCCTTGGGCTCC GGCATCCGAGCC GGCGATCCGAGCC GGCGATCCGAGCC 	50 46 13 33 60
Kdm5d_7246 Kdm5d_8742 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5c_XM_010629746.3 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5d_XM_010621634.2 Kdm5d_2511	CCCTAGGGCTGGGGCTGACTGTTCACAAA-GCCCGGGTCCGTGAGCGACACAGCCAG CCCTAGGGCTGGGGCTGACTGTTCACAAA-GCCCGGGTCCGTGAGCGACACAGCCAG CTCCTGATTCCTGGCCCCAGTCCTCGGGCCCATCATGGAGCCGGGGTCCGACGACTTCCTA ACATTGGTGAACAGCTTAGTTTTCAGGACAGAAATGGATCGGGATTCTGACGATTTCCTG AGTTTATTGTGCAGCTTAGTTTTCAGGACAGAAATGGATCGGGATTCTGACGATTTCCTG ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **	106 102 73 93 120
Kdm5d_7246 Kdm5d_8742 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5c_XM_010629746.3 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5d_XM_010621634.2 Kdm5d_2511	GAAGAGCAGGAGGGAKCCCAGCACCAGRAGCAGGAAGGTGAGGGGCCGCA GAAGAGCAGGAGGGAGCCCAKCACCASAAKCAGGAAKGTGAKGGGCCGCA CCGCCGCCGGAGTGCCCGGTGTTCGAGCCGAGCTGGGCGGAGTTCCGAGACCCCTCTGGC CCGCCGCCGGAGTGCCCAGTGTTTGAGCCCAGCTGGGCCGAATTCCGAGACCCCCTCGGA CCGCCGCCGGAGTGCCCAGTGTTTGAGCCCAGCTGGGCCGAATTCCGAGACCCCCTCGGA ** **** * * * * * * * * * * * * *	156 152 133 153 180
Kdm5d_7246 Kdm5d_8742 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5c_XM_010629746.3 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5d_XM_010621634.2 Kdm5d_2511	GCAGCTCCCCCTGCTCCTCCCATTGCCGAGAAGTCTGG 194 RCASCTCCCCCTGCTCCTCCCATTGCCGAGAAGTCTGG 190 TACATCGCGAAAATCAGGCCCATCGCCGAGAAGTCGGG 171 TATATAGCCAAAATCAGGCCCATTGCCGAGAAGTCTGG 191 TATATAGCCAAAATCAGGCCCATTGCCGAGAAGTCTGG 218 * ***** **************	

Figure 12: *KDM5D* alignment

Damara mole rat Ddx3x Ddx3y_3563 Ddx3y_7246 Ddx3y_7246 Ddx3y_2511 Damara_mole_rat_Ddx3y

Kdm5d_7246 Kdm5d_8742 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5c_XM_010629746.3 Damara_mole_rat_Kdm5d_XM_010621634.2 Kdm5d_2511

#### Figure 13: DDX3Y phylogenetic tree

#### Figure 14: *KDM5D* phylogenetic tree

Figure 13 suggests that successfully sequenced female PCR products, from samples 3563 and 7246, are amplified X homologues of *DDX3Y*, rather than amplified *DDX3Y*, as it is more closely related to *F. damarensis DDX3X* than male sequenced PCR product from sample 2511 and *F. damarensis DDX3Y*. Similarly, Figure 14 indicates that the sequence amplified in 7246 and 8742 females is *KDM5C*, X homologue of *KDM5D*.

Thus, the selected Y-associated genes are shown to be likely absent in *F. mechowii* females since the results indicate that only X homologue amplification occurred in the case of *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D*, while although Sanger sequencing of the fragments amplified *SRY* and *UTY* female screening was not successful, their size suggests they were not Y-associated gene fragments.

## 4.3. Bioinformatic analysis

A bioinformatics analysis was performed in order to detect X-specific sequences through the analysis of coverage by female compared to male reads. Additionally, mapping sequences with higher coverage by female compared to male reads onto genomes of related species was performed in order to detect possibly ancestrally autosomal sequences.

Following mapping the obtained reads onto a reference and calculating the ratio of the coverage by female and male reads, a graph displaying natural logarithm of those values plotted against the size of contigs was created (Figure 15). It shows that the largest number of contigs has the same coverage by female and male reads, illustrated by the natural logarithm values close to zero, which thus correspond to autosomes or sequences found on both, X and Y

chromosome. Moreover, the second largest cluster can be seen close to the natural logarithm value of 0.7, indicating the coverage by female reads being twice as high as by the male reads, likely because these are X-specific sequences. However, a number of values are found outside of those two clusters, with negative values resulting from technical limitations, and values between zero and 0.7 either resulting from similar technical limitations or indicating ancestrally autosomal sequences on X chromosomes which have not sufficiently diverged from the corresponding ancestrally autosomal sequences on the Y chromosome.



Figure 15: Natural logarithm of the normalized mean coverage by female over male reads plotted against logarithm values of contig lengths

In addition, the mapping of contigs with the values above zero onto a *M. musculus* and *H. glaber* led to the creation of dot plots shown in Figure 16 and 17 respectively, with Figure 16 displaying that several contigs mapped onto chromosome 6 of *M. musculus*, possibly indicating they were ancestrally autosomal sequences that were translocated on *F. mechowii* sex chromosomes, if the obtained values were not caused by technical limitations. Similarly, certain

*F. mechowii* contigs mapped onto *H. glaber* chromosome 9, again indicating these are likely X-specific ancestrally autosomal sequences (Figure 17).



Figure 16: Alignment with *M. musculus* 

Figure 17: Alignment with *H. glaber* 

Thus, the coverage analysis indicated X-specific sequences, as well as sequences with a higher coverage by female reads, however not twice as high as male coverage, indicating sequences which may not have yet sufficiently diversified between X and Y chromosomes to be identified as X-specific. Additionally, mapping those sequences onto genomes of related species suggested possibly ancestrally autosomal sequences, which do not map onto X chromosomes of related species, with several contigs mapping onto *H. glaber* chromosome 9 and *M. musculus* chromosome 6.

# 5. Discussion

#### 5.1.Y-associated genes screening

Performing PCR with gel electrophoresis in order to screen for the presence of Yassociated genes in *F. mechowii* yielded results showing the presence of bands for both, female and male samples. In the case of male samples, the amplified fragments would be of the predicted size, however in certain cases an additional band would be observed. In the case of the female samples, only *KDM5D* screening yielded bands identical to the ones detected for male samples. However, presence of an additional PCR product was observed in certain PCR runs as well. In the screening process for other selected genes, fragments of a size different to that of the male PCR products were detected.

The bands detected for female samples in *SRY/DDX3Y* screening indicated the presence of a sequence similar to *SRY/DDX3Y* to an extent which would allow the primers to bind and the sequence to be amplified. Detection of only a single bright band indicated that it was unlikely a result of unspecific binding, while the absence of that product in the negative control suggested it did not stem from a contamination of the PCR master mix, primers or water. Moreover, contamination of female DNA with male DNA was not likely as the size of the product differed from that produced by male samples. The specificity of primer annealing during PCR reactions could be resolved by increasing annealing temperature in both, female and male samples, and observing whether the product in the female sample stops to amplify at a lower temperature compared to the male sample.

Furthermore, detection of a PCR product of the identical size for male and female samples in *KDM5D* screening might indicate that the female DNA was contaminated with male DNA, however, detection of different bands for male and female samples upon using that DNA in the screening process of other genes indicated that it was not the case.

In *UTY* screening the band detected for female samples was present in the screening of the male samples as well, possibly indicating that X homologue was being amplified, as the band corresponding to the product of the correct size in male samples was brighter, indicating *UTY* being primarily amplified leading to a higher amount of that product, while *UTX* would be amplified to a lower extent due to the sequence differences partially hindering primer binding.

In addition, screening of females which are offspring of the females with a skewed ratio of the sex of their progeny indicated no difference in the presence of these genes in their genome and the genome of other females, as there is no difference in the observed *DDX3Y* and *KDM5D* bands between these two groups of females. No *SRY* bands were detected, as was the case for the majority of females from the first female group. Moreover, 2300 bp *UTY* bands were not detected for the female samples, which is likely a result of the annealing temperature being too high since it was absent in the male control as well.

Although Macholan et al. (1993) detected the presence of heteromorphic X chromosomes in a female *F. mechowii*, and Burda (2022) proposed heterogametic females as a possible reason for the skewed sex ratio of the offspring, similar to the prevalence of female *M. schisticolor* associated with the polymorphism of X chromosomes (Vorontsov et al., 1980),with 1.46:1 female to male ratio of a population of wild *F. mechowii* (Sichilima et al., 2008b) and 1:0.54 female to male offspring in captivity (Scharff et al., 1999), screening for Y-associated genes did not suggest a difference between the live *F. mechowii* indicated as possibly heterogametic and ones which were not. However, Scharff et al., 1999 reported that the sex ratio of the offspring favoring females was detected for each of the nine studied females, indicating a more common occurrence of heterogametic females if there is a connection between that chromosome combination and the skewed sex ratio of the offspring, which would be supported by the only female studied by Macholan et al. (1993) shown to possess heteromorphic X chromosomes.

While this investigation suggested no difference in the presence of Y-associated genes between females which are offspring of the females with prevalently female progeny and females for which this has not been observed, a future investigation could be conducted with the use of females with the skewed sex ratio instead of their offspring as this was not possible in this investigation due to the unavailability of such females. The offspring of such females was proposed to possibly belong to that group of females as well, however it may not have been the case. An additional limitation of this investigation is that performing karyotyping to identify females with heteromorphic X chromosomes was not possible due to required use of bone marrow (Macholan et al., 1993). Thus, this could be performed in a future study in order for the frequency of occurrence of such females to be determined and compared with the data regarding their offspring sex ratio.

#### 5.2. Sanger sequencing results

Following PCR with high-fidelity polymerase and purification of the obtained DNA, Sanger sequencing was performed in order for the source of the detected bands to be determined. Although detection of only a single *SRY* and *UTY* band suggested that only one sequence was amplified, chromatograms suggested the presence of multiple products. Thus, determining the origin of the *SRY* and *UTY* bands for females was not possible, although in the case of *UTY*, the presence of the product of the identical size in male samples indicates amplification of *UTX*.

DDX3Y and KDM5D phylogenetic trees show a closer relationship between female *F. mechowii* PCR products and *F. damarensis* X homologue, compared to the sequenced *F. mechowii* male product and *F. damarensis* Y-associated gene sequences. This indicates that X homologues are likely being amplified in *F. mechowii* females despite primers not annealing perfectly on the DNA sequence. That is supported by a slightly different product size in the case of DDX3Y as well. Additionally, this is likely to be the reason for bands becoming fainter and disappearing before the bands in male samples upon increasing the annealing temperature as it increases the specificity of primer binding.

However, if only X homologues are being amplified in females it is unclear why it occurs only in certain females and not others under identical conditions. Low DNA concentration might be the reason as in the majority of cases if a PCR product is detected for one gene in a female it is detected for all genes, except *SRY* and vice versa. However, this is not likely to be the cause due to successful *GAPDH* amplification in those females.

Moreover, if *DDX3X* is amplified with these primers, it is unclear why it is present only in females and not in males as is the case for probable fainter *UTX*, detected with *UTY* bands in males caused by preferential amplification of the *UTY* product. A band corresponding to the female bands in *DDX3Y* screening was detected in one male, thus it might be detected in others as well upon using a lower annealing temperature with *DDX3Y* being more preferentially amplified in males.

In addition, due to the absence of a true *SRY* X homologue, the sequence which is amplified in females is likely only a result of unspecific binding of the primers, although the presence of a singular band would indicate that the binding was specific.

While sex chromosomes of F. mechowii are outlined to be exceptionally large (Macholan et al., 1993), possibly indicating a difference to the expected sex determination system, such as in the case of *Microtus* genus in which several species have larger than expected sex chromosomes, including Microtus cabrerae (Cabrera vole) for which fertile XY females have been detected (Marchal et al., 2003), Sanger sequencing of F. mechowii gene fragments suspected to possibly be Y-associated indicated that only X homologues of those genes could be detected in females. Furthermore, while in this investigation a fragment was amplified in certain females in SRY screening, Bullejos et al. (1997) detected a PCR product amplified with SRY primers in *M. cabrerae* females and males. However, in that case there was no difference in the size of female and male PCR products, and it was proposed that all different SRY copies detected in that species with the exception of one Y-associated copy are pseudogenes. Prior to that, amplified sequences in females were suspected to possibly stem from SOX3 gene (Bullejos et al., 1997), as it is likely the nearest SRY relative and is X-associated (Stevanović et al., 1993). Thus, while it is possible that in SRY screening of F. mechowii females a copy of SRY was amplified, the detected fragment could be a result of SOX3 or other similar sequence amplification. As Sanger sequencing of that fragment was not successful it was not possible to determine the identity of the amplified female fragment. Hence, a future investigation might elucidate the identity of the amplified SRY PCR product in females.

In addition, heteromorphic X chromosomes (Macholan et al., 1993) and autosome-sex chromosome translocations, detected in *F. mechowii* (Deuve et al., 2006), are both outlined as traits of species with a sex determination system differing from XX/XY, with XX/XX*/X*Y females (Saunders & Veyrunes, 2021). However, while this investigation suggested the absence of the Y chromosome and selected Y-associated genes in females, although *UTX* being the amplified fragment in females could not be confirmed due to unsuccessful Sanger sequencing, further research might focus on elucidating the differences in the heteromorphic X chromosome is advantageous in certain regards. Moreover, Saunders et al. (2014) detected a reproductive advantage in X*Y *Mus minutoides* (African pygmy mouse) females compared to

females with other sex chromosome combinations. Although, females with that chromosome combination have not been detected in *F. mechowii*, future studies might research the possible effects of heteromorphic X chromosomes on reproductive outcomes in *F. mechowii*.

#### 5.3. Bioinformatic analysis

Illumina sequencing of four *F. mechowii* and mapping the reads onto a reference genome followed by a comparison of the coverage by female and male reads yielded results showing the contigs which are most likely autosomal or present on both, X and Y chromosomes, with the coverage ratio value of zero, and X-specific contigs which are covered by approximately twice the number of female reads compared to male reads.

Additionally, comparing contigs with a higher ratio of female to male coverage with *M. musculus* and *H. glaber* genomes showed that certain contigs mapped onto their chromosomes 6 and 9 respectively. This could indicate that those sequences were ancestrally autosomal in *F. mechowii*, although it is possible that the higher ratio of female to male coverage stems only from the technical limitations, especially visible in the case of smaller contigs, similar to those which led to the negative values as negative values would indicate that the coverage of a female genome is higher by male compared to female reads. Similar technical limitations could be the cause of a coverage value slightly higher than zero, however it is possible that contigs in question are ancestrally autosomal sequences on the *F. mechowii* X chromosome which have not yet diversified between X and Y chromosomes.

While certain potentially ancestrally autosomal *F. mechowii* sequences were identified in this bioinformatic analysis, Deuve et al. (2006) utilized chromosome painting to investigate chromosomal rearrangements in *F. mechowii* and identified regions of *F. mechowii* sex chromosomes homologous to *H. glaber* chromosomes 7, 11, 12 and 20, whereas this bioinformatic analysis suggested that the sequences homologous to *H. glaber* chromosome 9 are now located on *F. mechowii* X chromosome. However, Deuve et al. (2006) did not identify *F. mechowii* chromosome regions homologous with that chromosome since the painting probes required to identify regions homologous with chromosome 9 of *H. glaber* are stated to not have been available. In addition, it is not clear whether the numbering of chromosomes is the same in

the genome assembly we used for the analysis and Deuve et al. (2006) publication. Potentially we only discovered the largest ancestrally autosomal block, or the most divergent between X and Y chromosomes, while others were not distinguishable between X and Y and therefore marked as autosomal in our analysis.

Chromosomal rearrangements involving X chromosome and autosomes are stated to likely have adverse effects due to possible interfering with meiosis and spread of heterochromatization from X inactivation to the translocated autosomal region (Dobigny et al., 2004). Thus, Deuve et al. (2008) proposes that the rearrangements are likely to be environmentally or socially advantageous, which could be investigated further in future research.

Thus, Illumina sequencing of two female and two male *F. mechowii* has been successfully performed and X-specific sequences were identified, including some potentially ancestrally autosomal sequences. However, a limitation of this investigation is that if diversification of the ancestrally autosomal sequences on X and Y chromosomes has not yet occurred, such sequences could not be detected as ancestrally autosomal since only potentially X-specific sequences were mapped on genomes of related species. Further investigations might aim to generate more data suggesting which X chromosome sequences were ancestrally autosomal and what are their effects on *F. mechowii*.

Further research focused on studying chromosomal sex determination systems different from XX/XY in mammals might further elucidate sex chromosome evolution and X inactivation mechanisms.

# 6. Conclusion

This investigation aimed to determine whether genes often associated with the mammalian Y chromosome could be detected in F. mechowii females. Furthermore, an additional aim was identifying F. mechowii X-specific sequences and sequences which were ancestrally autosomal and are now located on sex chromosomes. The results of the Y-associated genes screening indicated no presence of such genes in females. Although in certain cases a fragment would be amplified in females during PCR with SRY, DDX3Y, KDM5D and UTY primers, Sanger sequencing indicated that in the case of DDX3Y and KDM5D only X homologue fragments were the amplified products. Additionally, UTY product size and the presence of an identical band when screening males indicated amplification of the X homologue, UTX in this case as well, whereas although single SRY bands of high intensity were detected in certain females, the product size did not correspond to the expected value, suggesting that the amplified product is not an SRY fragment. Moreover, Y-associated genes screening suggested no difference between female progeny of the females producing prevalently female offspring and females for which this was not the case. Furthermore, X-specific sequences were identified, and certain sequences mapped onto a M. musculus chromosome 6 and *H. glaber* chromosome 9, possibly indicating sequences which were ancestrally autosomal. Thus, while Illumina sequencing of two male and two female F. mechowii with identification of X-specific sequences was achieved, future research could aim to generate more data regarding which sequences are ancestrally autosomal and how sex chromosome-autosome translocations which led to this type of F. mechowii sex chromosomes might have been advantageous. Furthermore, while previous research suggested F. mechowii might be one of the mammalian species with a sex determination system different from XX/XY, screening for Y-associated genes within the scope of this investigation suggested no differences from the expected sex determination system in terms of the presence of Y-associated genes in females and males. However, further research is required to elucidate reasons for the skewed sex ratio of the offspring in certain females, differences between two X chromosome variants and the effects of the heteromorphic X chromosomes in this species.

# 7. References

Agrawal, A. F. (2009). Differences between selection on sex versus recombination in red queen models with diploid hosts. Evolution, 63(8), 2131-2141.

Arakawa, Y., Nishida-Umehara, C., Matsuda, Y., Sutou, S., & Suzuki, H. (2002). Xchromosomal localization of mammalian Y-linked genes in two XO species of the Ryukyu spiny rat. Cytogenetic and genome research, 99(1-4), 303-309.

Araujo, F. C., Milsted, A., Watanabe, I. K., Del Puerto, H. L., Santos, R. A., Lazar, J., ... & Prokop, J. W. (2015). Similarities and differences of X and Y chromosome homologous genes, SRY and SOX3, in regulating the renin-angiotensin system promoters. Physiological Genomics, 47(5), 177-186.

Bachtrog, D. (2013). Y-chromosome evolution: emerging insights into processes of Y-chromosome degeneration. Nature Reviews Genetics, 14(2), 113-124.

Begall, S., Nappe, R., Hohrenk, L., Schmidt, T. C., Burda, H., Sahm, A., ... & Henning, Y. (2021). Life expectancy, family constellation and stress in giant mole-rats (Fukomys mechowii).Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 376(1823), 20200207.

Bennett, N. C., Molteno, A. J., & Spinks, A. C. (2000). Pituitary sensitivity to exogenous GnRH in giant Zambian mole-rats, Cryptomys mechowi (Rodentia: Bathyergidae): support for the 'socially induced infertility continuum'. Journal of Zoology, 252(4), 447-452.

Beukeboom, L. W., & Perrin, N. (2014). The evolution of sex determination. Oxford University Press.

Bernard, P., & Harley, V. R. (2007). Wnt4 action in gonadal development and sex determination. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology, 39(1), 31-43.

Biason-Lauber, A., & Konrad, D. (2008). WNT4 and sex development. Sexual Development, 2(4-5), 210-218.

Biason-Lauber, A. (2012, October). WNT4, RSPO1, and FOXL2 in sex development. In Seminars in reproductive medicine (Vol. 30, No. 05, pp. 387-395). Thieme Medical Publishers.

Bullejos, M., Sánchez, A., Burgos, M., Hera, C., Jiménez, R., & Díaz de La Guardia, R. (1997). Multiple, polymorphic copies of SRY in both males and females of the vole Microtus cabrerae. Cytogenetic and Genome Research, 79(3-4), 167-171.

Burda, H., Honeycutt, R. L., Begall, S., Locker-Grütjen, O., & Scharff, A. (2000). Are naked and common mole-rats eusocial and if so, why?. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology, 47, 293-303.

Burda, H. (2022). Zambian mole-rats: 33 years on the scene and what we still do not know and how we could learn it. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 10, 866709.

Cabanettes F, Klopp C. (2018) D-GENIES: dot plot large genomes in an interactive, efficient and simple way. PeerJ 6:e4958 https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4958

Camerino, G., Parma, P., Radi, O., & Valentini, S. (2006). Sex determination and sex reversal. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development, 16(3), 289-292.

Caspar, K. R., Burda, H., & Begall, S. (2021). Fukomys mechowii (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). Mammalian Species, 53(1011), 145-159.

Charlesworth, B. (2002). The evolution of chromosomal sex determination. In The Genetics and Biology of Sex Determination: Novartis Foundation Symposium 244 (Vol. 244, pp. 207-224). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., https://doi.org/10.1002/0470868732.ch17

Chudoba, J., Křenková, I., Mulač, M., Ruda, M., & Sitera, J. (2017, October). The Czech National Grid Infrastructure. In Journal of Physics: Conference Series (Vol. 898, No. 8, p. 082042). IOP Publishing.

Cīrulis, A., Hansson, B., & Abbott, J. K. (2022). Sex-limited chromosomes and non-reproductive traits. BMC biology, 20(1), 1-18.

Couger, M. B., Roy, S. W., Anderson, N., Gozashti, L., Pirro, S., Millward, L. S., ... & Campbell, P. (2021). Sex chromosome transformation and the origin of a male-specific X chromosome in the creeping vole. Science, 372(6542), 592-600.

Deuve, J. L., Bennett, N. C., Britton-Davidian, J., & Robinson, T. J. (2008). Chromosomal phylogeny and evolution of the African mole-rats (Bathyergidae). Chromosome Research, 16, 57-74.

Deuve, J. L., Bennett, N. C., O'Brien, P. C. M., Ferguson-Smith, M. A., Faulkes, C. G., Britton-Davidian, J., & Robinson, T. J. (2006). Complex evolution of X and Y autosomal translocations in the giant mole-rat, Cryptomys mechowi (Bathyergidae). Chromosome Research, 14, 681-691.

Devlin, R. H., & Nagahama, Y. (2002). Sex determination and sex differentiation in fish: an overview of genetic, physiological, and environmental influences. Aquaculture, 208(3-4), 191-364.

Dobigny, G., Ozouf-Costaz, C., Bonillo, C., & Volobouev, V. (2004). Viability of X-autosome translocations in mammals: an epigenomic hypothesis from a rodent case-study. Chromosoma, 113, 34-41.

Eggers, S., & Sinclair, A. (2012). Mammalian sex determination—insights from humans and mice. Chromosome research, 20, 215-238.

Ezaz, T., Srikulnath, K., & Graves, J. A. M. (2017). Origin of amniote sex chromosomes: an ancestral super-sex chromosome, or common requirements?. Journal of Heredity, 108(1), 94-105.

Fredga, K. (1988). Aberrant chromosomal sex-determining mechanisms in mammals, with special reference to species with XY females. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences, 322(1208), 83-95.

Furman, B. L., Metzger, D. C., Darolti, I., Wright, A. E., Sandkam, B. A., Almeida, P., ... & Mank, J. E. (2020). Sex chromosome evolution: so many exceptions to the rules. Genome biology and evolution, 12(6), 750-763.

García-Acero, M., Moreno, O., Suárez, F., & Rojas, A. (2020). Disorders of sexual development: current status and progress in the diagnostic approach. Current urology, 13(4), 169-178.

Geng, S., De Hoff, P., & Umen, J. G. (2014). Evolution of sexes from an ancestral mating-type specification pathway. PLoS biology, 12(7), e1001904.

Gilbert, S. F. (2000), Developmental Biology. 6th edition. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; Chromosomal Sex Determination in Mammals. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK9967/

Gorelick, R., & Carpinone, J. (2009). Origin and maintenance of sex: the evolutionary joys of self sex. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 98(4), 707-728.

Gorelick, R., & Heng, H. H. (2011). Sex reduces genetic variation: a multidisciplinary review, Evolution, Volume 65, Issue 4, 1 April 2011, Pages 1088–1098, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.2010.01173.x

Grützner, F., Rens, W., Tsend-Ayush, E., El-Mogharbel, N., O'Brien, P. C., Jones, R. C., ... & Marshall Graves, J. A. (2004). In the platypus a meiotic chain of ten sex chromosomes shares genes with the bird Z and mammal X chromosomes. Nature, 432(7019), 913-917.

Haag, E. S., & Doty, A. V. (2005). Sex determination across evolution: connecting the dots. PLoS biology, 3(1), e21.

Hake, L., & O'Connor, C. (2008). Genetic mechanisms of sex determination. Nature Education, 1(1), 25.

Helena Mangs, A., & Morris, B. J. (2007). The human pseudoautosomal region (PAR): origin, function and future. Current genomics, 8(2), 129-136.

Heth, G., Todrank, J., & Burda, H. (2002). Individual odor similarities within colonies and across species of Cryptomys mole rats. Journal of Mammalogy, 83(2), 569-575.

Kawalika, M., & Burda, H. (2007). Giant mole-rats, Fukomys mechowii, 13 years on the stage. In Subterranean rodents: news from underground (pp. 205-219). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Kock, D., Ingram, C. M., Frabotta, L. J., Honeycutt, R. L., & Burda, H. (2006). On the nomenclature of Bathyergidae and Fukomys n. gen.(Mammalia: Rodentia). Zootaxa, 1142(1), 51-55.

Kõressaar, T., Lepamets, M., Kaplinski, L., Raime, K., Andreson, R., & Remm, M. (2018). Primer3_masker: integrating masking of template sequence with primer design software. Bioinformatics, 34(11), 1937-1938.

Koressaar, T., & Remm, M. (2007). Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3. Bioinformatics, 23(10), 1289-1291.

Kuroiwa, A. (2022). Spectrum of Sex Chromosomes in Mammals. In Spectrum of Sex: The Molecular Bases that Induce Various Sexual Phenotypes (pp. 53-67). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.

Kuroki, S., & Tachibana, M. (2018). Epigenetic regulation of mammalian sex determination. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology, 468, 31-38.

Liu, R., Low, W. Y., Tearle, R., Koren, S., Ghurye, J., Rhie, A., ... & Williams, J. L. (2019). New insights into mammalian sex chromosome structure and evolution using high-quality sequences from bovine X and Y chromosomes. BMC genomics, 20(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-6364-z

Macholan, M., Burda, H., Zima, J., Misek, I., & Kawalika, M. (1993). Karyotype of the giant mole-rat, Cryptomys mechowi (Rodentia, Bathyergidae). Cytogenetic and Genome Research, 64(3-4), 261-263.

Madeira, F., Pearce, M., Tivey, A. R., Basutkar, P., Lee, J., Edbali, O., ... & Lopez, R. (2022). Search and sequence analysis tools services from EMBL-EBI in 2022. Nucleic acids research, 50(W1), W276-W279.

Marchal, J. A., Acosta, M. J., Bullejos, M., Díaz De La Guardia, R., & Sánchez, A. (2003). Sex chromosomes, sex determination, and sex-linked sequences in Microtidae. Cytogenetic and genome research, 101(3-4), 266-273.

Martin, F. J., Amode, M. R., Aneja, A., Austine-Orimoloye, O., Azov, A. G., Barnes, I., ... & Flicek, P. (2023). Ensembl 2023. Nucleic acids research, 51(D1), D933-D941.

Meeks, J. J., Crawford, S. E., Russell, T. A., Morohashi, K. I., Weiss, J., & Jameson, J. L. (2003). Dax1 regulates testis cord organization during gonadal differentiation.

Mongue, A. J., Nguyen, P., Voleníková, A., & Walters, J. R. (2017). Neo-sex chromosomes in the monarch butterfly, Danaus plexippus. G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics, 7(10), 3281-3294.

Morgan, R., & Klein, S. L. (2019). The intersection of sex and gender in the treatment of influenza. Current opinion in virology, 35, 35-41.

National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (1988), Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US), National Center for Biotechnology Information; retrieved 3.11.2022, from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

National Center for Biotechnology Information (2004), National Library of Medicine (US), Gene, Bethesda (MD), ATP-dependent RNA helicase DDX3Y-like, retrieved 9.3.2024, from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene?cmd=retrieve&list_uids=104864671

New England Biolabs (n.d.), 100 bp DNA Ladder, retrieved 4.7.2024 from: https://www.neb.com/en/products/n3231-100-bp-dna-ladder#Citations---Technical-Literature

Nishino, K., Hattori, N., Tanaka, S., & Shiota, K. (2004). DNA methylation-mediated control of Sry gene expression in mouse gonadal development. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(21), 22306-22313.

Olito, C., & Abbott, J. K. (2023). The evolution of suppressed recombination between sex chromosomes and the lengths of evolutionary strata. Evolution, 77(4), 1077-1090.

Perrin, N. (2012). What uses are mating types? The "developmental switch" model. Evolution, 66(4), 947-956.

Pennell, M. W., Mank, J. E., & Peichel, C. L. (2018). Transitions in sex determination and sex chromosomes across vertebrate species. Molecular Ecology, 27(19), 3950-3963.

Piferrer, F., Blázquez, M., Navarro, L., & González, A. (2005). Genetic, endocrine, and environmental components of sex determination and differentiation in the European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax L.). General and comparative endocrinology, 142(1-2), 102-110.

Rens, W., O'Brien, P. C., Grützner, F., Clarke, O., Graphodatskaya, D., Tsend-Ayush, E., ... & Ferguson-Smith, M. A. (2007). The multiple sex chromosomes of platypus and echidna are not completely identical and several share homology with the avian Z. Genome biology, 8, 1-21.

Roy, S. W. (2021). On the form and origins of the bizarre sex chromosomal system of the mandarin vole. Journal of Heredity, 112(4), 328-334.

Salazar, A., Ochoa-Corona, F. M., Talley, J. L., & Noden, B. H. (2021). Recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA) with lateral flow detection for three Anaplasma species of importance to livestock health. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 15962.

Saunders, P. A., Perez, J., Rahmoun, M., Ronce, O., Crochet, P. A., & Veyrunes, F. (2014). XY females do better than the XX in the African pygmy mouse, Mus minutoides. Evolution, 68(7), 2119-2127.

Saunders, P. A., & Veyrunes, F. (2021). Unusual mammalian sex determination systems: a cabinet of curiosities. Genes, 12(11), 1770.

Scharff, A., Begall, S., Grütjen, O., & Burda, H. (1999). Reproductive characteristics and growth of Zambian giant mole-rats, Cryptomys mechowi (Rodentia: Bathyergidae).

Schwanz, L. E., Ezaz, T., Gruber, B., & Georges, A. (2013). Novel evolutionary pathways of sex-determining mechanisms. Journal of Evolutionary Biology, 26(12), 2544-2557.

Seidl, M. F., & Thomma, B. P. (2014). Sex or no sex: evolutionary adaptation occurs regardless. Bioessays, 36(4), 335-345.

Sharifi, S., Caracciolo, G., Pozzi, D., Digiacomo, L., Swann, J., Daldrup-Link, H. E., & Mahmoudi, M. (2021). The role of sex as a biological variable in the efficacy and toxicity of therapeutic nanomedicine. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 174, 337-347.

Sichilima, A. M., Bennett, N. C., Faulkes, C. G., & Le Comber, S. C. (2008a). Evolution of African mole-rat sociality: burrow architecture, rainfall and foraging in colonies of the cooperatively breeding Fukomys mechowii. Journal of Zoology, 275(3), 276-282.

Sichilima, A. M., Faulkes, C. G., & Bennett, N. C. (2008b). Field evidence for aseasonality of reproduction and colony size in the Afrotropical giant mole-rat Fukomys mechowii (Rodentia: Bathyergidae). African Zoology, 43(2), 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/15627020.2008.11657231 Skaletsky, H., Kuroda-Kawaguchi, T., Minx, P. J., Cordum, H. S., Hillier, L., Brown, L. G., ... & Page, D. C. (2003). The male-specific region of the human Y chromosome is a mosaic of discrete sequence classes. Nature, 423(6942), 825-837.

Smith, C. A., & Sinclair, A. H. (2004). Sex determination: insights from the chicken. Bioessays, 26(2), 120-132.

Stevanović, M., Lovell-Badge, R., Collignon, J. M., & Goodfellow, P. N. (1993). SOX3 is an Xlinked gene related to SRY. Human molecular genetics, 2(12), 2013-2018.

Swain, A., Narvaez, V., Burgoyne, P., Camerino, G., & Lovell-Badge, R. (1998). Dax1 antagonizes Sry action in mammalian sex determination. Nature, 391(6669), 761-767.

Tolar, N., (2023). Genome assembly of Mechow's mole-rat (Fukomys mechowii) as a prerequisite for the analysis of transposon expression in mole-rat oocytes. Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, University of South Bohemia, Czech Republic

Turner, M. E., Jenkins, C., Milsted, A., & Ely, D. L. (2004). Sex chromosomes. In Advances in Molecular and Cell Biology (Vol. 34, pp. 1-13). Elsevier.

Untergasser, A., Cutcutache, I., Koressaar, T., Ye, J., Faircloth, B. C., Remm, M., & Rozen, S. G. (2012). Primer3—new capabilities and interfaces. Nucleic acids research, 40(15), e115-e115.

Uyenoyama, M. K. (2005). Evolution under tight linkage to mating type. New phytologist, 165(1), 63-70.

Valenzuela, N., & Lance, V. (Eds.). (2004). Temperature-dependent sex determination in vertebrates (pp. 1-194). Washington, DC: Smithsonian Books.

Veyrunes, F., Chevret, P., Catalan, J., Castiglia, R., Watson, J., Dobigny, G., ... Britton-Davidian, J. (2009). A novel sex determination system in a close relative of the house mouse. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 277(1684), 1049–1056. doi:10.1098/rspb.2009.1925

Visser, J. H., Bennett, N. C., & van Vuuren, B. J. (2019). Phylogeny and biogeography of the African Bathyergidae: a review of patterns and processes. PeerJ, 7, e7730.

Vorontsov, N. N., Lyapunova, E. A., Borissov, Y. M., & Dovgal, V. E. (1980). Variability of sex chromosomes in mammals. Genetica, 52, 361-372.

Whitfield, L. S., Lovell-Badge, R., & Goodfellow, P. N. (1993). Rapid sequence evolution of the mammalian sex-determining gene SRY. Nature, 364(6439), 713-715.

Wilhelm, D., Palmer, S., & Koopman, P. (2007). Sex determination and gonadal development in mammals. Physiological reviews.

Wutz, A., & Jaenisch, R. (2000). A shift from reversible to irreversible X inactivation is triggered during ES cell differentiation. Molecular cell, 5(4), 695-705.